No. 45052-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

JOSETTE TAYLOR as Personal Representative of the Estate of FRED E. TAYLOR, deceased; and on behalf of the Estate of FRED E. TAYLOR; and JOSETTE TAYLOR,

Appellants,

٧.

INTUITIVE SURGICAL, INC., a foreign corporation doing business in Washington,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Appellants

INTRODUCTION

In the last four years of his life, Fred Taylor suffered from serious complications caused by a 13-hour prostate surgery. His surgeon, who had performed only two prior robotic procedures, had to convert to an open procedure after eight hours. Harrison Medical Center had credentialed this surgeon based on warnings and instructions from the manufacturer and seller of the da Vinci robot, Intuitive Surgical, Inc. Three ISI employees sat on Harrison's committee recommending these credentialing requirements.

Yet ISI had obtained FDA "clearance" (not approval) by telling the FDA that much greater training was necessary and that ISI would provide it. Studies known to ISI show that surgeons need between eight and 250 surgeries before achieving proficiency with the robot. Yet ISI failed to warn and instruct Harrison on these requirements.

The trial court refused to instruct the jury that ISI had a duty to warn and instruct Harrison – purchaser of an inherently dangerous product – misapplying the learned intermediary doctrine. It failed to instruct the jury that strict liability applies here. And it allowed no contradiction to ISI's false suggestion that no other similar incidents occurred at Harrison. The jury returned a defense verdict. This Court should reverse and remand for trial under proper instructions.

ASSIGNMENTS OR ERROR

- 1. The trial court erroneously failed to instruct the jury that ISI had a duty to warn and instruct Harrison Hospital, the purchaser of the Da Vinci robot. CP 5393 (No. 6); 5394 (No. 7); 5397 (No. 10); 5398 (No. 11) and 5404 (No. 17).
- 2. The trial court erroneously failed to give Taylor's proposed instructions including Harrison. CP 4134, 4145, 4164.
- 3. The trial court erroneously failed to instruct the jury that ISI is strictly liable for its failures to warn and instruct Harrison. CP 4294-4300, 4303-04.
- 4. The trial court erroneously instructed the jury to determine whether Dr. Bildsten's negligence was a superseding cause. CP 5406 (No 19).
- 5. The court improperly instructed the jury on mitigation of damages. CP 5407 (Ins. No. 20).
- 6. The court erroneously used a verdict form repeating the jury-instruction errors. CP 5628.
- 7. The court erroneously refused to permit testimony to rebut an ISI employee's testimony that aside from Taylor's procedure, the robotics program at Harrison was successful. RP 1427, 1429.

ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Did ISI have a duty to warn and instruct Harrison Hospital, the purchaser of the relevant, unavoidably unsafe product, where Harrison credentialed doctors to use its robot?
- 2. Did the trial court erroneously instruct the jury on negligence, rather than strict liability, for ISI's failures to warn and instruct?
- 3. Did the trial court erroneously instruct the jury to determine whether Dr. Bildsten's negligence was a superseding cause, where his negligence was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of ISI's failure to properly warn and instruct as a matter of law, and where the resulting harm was not different or independent?
- 4. Were the court's failure-to-mitigate instructions improper, where they instructed the jury: (a) not to include damages that could have been avoided, but also (b) to reduce damages by a percentage reflecting the failure to mitigate?
- 5. After an ISI employee testified that, aside from Taylor's surgery, the robotics program at Harrison was successful and that Harrison was purchasing a second robot, did the trial court erroneously refuse to allow Taylor to cross-examine witnesses on whether the robotics program was replete with problems?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Summary.

After discovering that he had prostate cancer in September 2008, Fred Taylor opted to have his prostate removed in a robotic laparoscopic procedure. RP 1067-68, 1145-48. Fred's surgeon, Dr. Scott Bildsten, had only recently completed robotics training, and was newly credentialed at Harrison Medical Center when he performed the surgery. RP 1060, 1662, 1664; CP 2309-2310. Harrison's robotics program was in its infancy. RP 1160.

Fred's procedure went horribly wrong, and it is undisputed that he suffered life-altering injuries as a result. *Infra*, Statement of the Case §§ O & P. As one friend succinctly put it, the operation "destroyed [Fred's] quality of life." RP 2093. The parties dispute whether the surgery hastened his death four years later. CP 1451.

The plaintiff's case theory was that Intuitive Surgical, Inc. ("ISI") the manufacturer of the "da Vinci" robot, used to perform Fred's surgery, misinformed and failed to adequately warn and instruct Harrison, which purchased the robot and credentialed Bildsten based on that inaccurate and incomplete information. The following explains how this tragedy came to pass.

B. The da Vinci robot is an unavoidably unsafe medical device.

The da Vinci robot is a "medical device," like an artificial joint or pacemaker, and is considered to be one of the most, if not the most, complex medical device on the market. RP 463, 1912. ISI agrees that the robot is an "unavoidably unsafe product." CP 110.

Robotic surgery is a subset of traditional laparoscopic surgery. RP 869, 1906. In both, tubes called trocars are inserted into small incisions to allow cameras and surgical instruments to pass into the body. RP 868-70. Both are "minimally invasive" in that they do not require any large incisions. RP 870.

In a robotic surgery, a "tableside assistant" attaches surgical instruments to the robotic arms. RP 869-70, 1906-07. The surgeon sitting at a "viewing console" about 10 feet from the patient manipulates the robotic arms using a control panel with a series of pedals, buttons, and "masters," which are essentially very sophisticated joysticks. RP 870, 896-97, 1907. The robotic arms in turn manipulate the surgical instruments inside the patient's body. RP 870.

C. The FDA originally "cleared" the robot to hold endoscopic instruments.

The Food and Drug Administration is essentially a consumer-safety group mandated by Congress to protect the public. RP 462. The FDA functions as a "gatekeeper" for all new drugs and medical devices coming into the market. *Id.* All non-exempt products, such as the robot, must be either "approved" or "cleared" by the FDA before they can be marketed to the public. RP 464.

A "Class 2 approval" allows a manufacture to request clearance of a medical device that is already familiar to the FDA under what is referred to as "510(k) process." RP 490-91, 2705-06. The 510(k) process applies when the product is as safe and effective as a product the FDA has cleared or approved in the past. RP 2706. The term "Class 2 approval" is a misnomer in that the product is not actually approved, but cleared. 2739-40. It is "misleading and constitutes misbranding" to refer to a cleared product as FDA-approved. RP 2739-41; 21 CFR 807.97.

Obtaining clearance is far simpler, faster, and cheaper than obtaining approval. RP 491. Clinical trials do not need to be as robust and there is "a lot less oversight for a 510(k)." *Id*.

No da Vinci robot has ever been approved by the FDA. RP 2709, 2712, 2723, 2741. In 1997, the FDA did clear the first da Vinci robot to hold endoscopic instruments (long flexible tubes that hold cameras). RP 467-68. The first robot was "substantially equivalent to other types of products that held instruments." RP 467.

D. ISI subsequently obtained numerous FDA clearances for robotic surgery, including prostatectomy.

When a manufacturer wants to use an FDA-cleared product for a new purpose or "indication," it must submit a new application to the FDA. RP 465-66. Following clearance as an "instrument holder," ISI obtained clearance to market the da Vinci robot to perform abdominal and thoracic surgeries, and eventually others. RP 468-69, 473, 487. For each new indication, ISI told the FDA that it was referring back to its prior 510(k) applications. RP 470, 487. By the time ISI sought clearance to market the robot for prostatectomy, there were approximately 14 related 510(k) clearances. RP 469.

E. To obtain clearance for prostatectomy, ISI told the FDA that it would train surgeons in four phases, and recommended basic and advanced laparoscopic requirements.

The FDA does not have experts on surgical robots – "[t]hey rely on the expert – the manufacturer . . . to be the expert and provide information" RP 463.

1. Phase 1 – ISI told the FDA that surgeons would have to pass a 70-question test before moving to Phase 2.

As part of its 510(k) application for prostatectomy, ISI submitted a comprehensive training program to the FDA, summarized as follows:

The Intuitive Surgical Customer Training Program consists of four related, successive phases conducted at Intuitive and the installed clinical site. These four phases include: Distance Learning (Phase 1), Off-Site Workshop (Phase 2), Onsite/Installation (Phase 3), and Surgical Directed Training (Phase 4). The intent of the phases is to familiarize users with the system, its components and functions, as well as to provide instruction for performance of general surgical tasks using the device.

Ex 24, p.30; RP 1913. ISI stated that upon completing these four phases, "surgeons will have received training and demonstrated proficiency" in 23 areas including everything from basic system overview to "Surgical Skills." Ex 24, p. 30; see also RP 2605-06.

Phase 1 consisted primarily of an online PowerPoint presentation and 70 question multiple-choice test, designed to provide a basic understanding of the robot and "computer-assisted surgery." RP 2625; CP 4605-07; Ex 10, p. 30; Ex 24 p. 31. Phase 1 also involved putting together a surgical team consisting of a console surgeon, a bedside assistant, and others. CP 4603, 4611, 5050-51. ISI expected surgeons to schedule two patients for robotic

surgery before moving onto Phase 2, even though they had no training on the robot. RP 828-30; CP 4611. ISI would not "always" cancel Phase 2 if they failed to do so. RP 828-30; Ex 511.

2. Phase 2 — ISI told the FDA that surgeons would participate in a 3-day hands-on training program at ISI's lab, which would include standardized and expert evaluations.

Phase 2 had two components – "onsite" training conducted at the hospital purchasing the robot, and "offsite" training conducted at ISI's lab and corporate facility in Sunnyvale California. CP 4610, 4618-19. The onsite was essentially a hands-on systems overview, during which an ISI Clinical Sales Representative worked with the surgical team. RP 1417-18. ISI told the FDA that the off-site training would be a "three-day hands-on program" at ISI's lab, including class work and lab work on cadavers and animals. Ex 10 p. 31; Ex 24 p. 31; RP 2625; CP 4634-44. Surgeons would be expected to demonstrate familiarity with the robot, and would have the opportunity to "re-learn" basic surgical tasks on the robot, including cutting, grasping, and suturing. *Id*.

ISI promised that in Phase 2, "each customer's general proficiency with the da Vinci Surgical System will be evaluated using a standardized Training Assessment tool." Ex 24 p. 31. ISI also

promised that "[p]erformance evaluations will be ongoing within the hands-on training throughout the course" and that among other things, "[e]xpert evaluation . . . will determine mastery." Ex 10 p. 31.

3. Phase 3 – ISI told the FDA that an expert using ISI-developed metrics would evaluate mastery in an on-site dry-run.

ISI told the FDA that Phase 3 training – the "dry run" – would require demonstrated familiarity with the robot in a hospital setting. RP 4614, 4619; Ex 24 p. 31. A sales rep would score the team's performance using a "Likert-type scale from one to five." Ex 24 p. 32. ISI promised to develop "[m]etrics . . . to certify mastery, including time and accuracy"; "mastery" would also be determined by, among other things, "[e]xpert evaluation." Ex 10, p. 31.

4. Phase 4 – ISI told the FDA that it would develop a standardized series of exercises focusing on surgical tasks, in an otherwise self-directed phase.

ISI told the FDA that Phase 4 would be a "self-directed learning curriculum," during which surgeons would practice what they learned in earlier phases. Ex 10 p. 31. Surgeons also were to complete their credentialing requirements during this phase. *Id.* But while this Phase was mostly left to surgeons and hospitals, ISI told the FDA that it would "devise a standardized series of exercises" focusing on "the execution of surgical tasks." Ex 24, P. 32.

5. Testing – ISI told the FDA that ISI would assess surgeons throughout their training to ensure cognitive and motor-skills competency.

ISI told the FDA that each of its training centers would "follow a standard curriculum and utilize standard performance assessment" before moving a surgeon from Phase to Phase, and that "[d]eficiencies [would] be identified and remediated." Ex 10 p. 30; RP 1923-25, 1928-29. ISI stated that it would "quantitatively asses[]" the surgical team's ability to use the robot using a Likert-type scale of one to five. RP 1924; Ex 13, p. 15. ISI also stated that its "Surgical System Trainer will assess the surgical team's skill and ability using a standard training checklist of specific tasks with immediate feedback to the surgical team." RP 1924-25; Ex 13, p.15. In short, ISI repeatedly told FDA that surgeons could not move through the ISI training program without being assessed to ensure "cognitive and motor skills competency." Ex 10, p. 30.

This assessment was an important aspect of the training program ISI pitched to the FDA. RP 1928-29. As one of the expert robotic surgeons stated, there "has to be some sort of assessment that you're given that you have the skill set to go to the next level." RP 1929.

6. Laparoscopic skills – ISI told the FDA that surgeons should meet laparoscopic requirements.

ISI told the FDA that surgeons should "meet basic and advanced laparoscopic requirements as outlined by private and/or academic organizations." RP 1915; Ex 20, p. 55. At the time, there were only about 10 or 15 surgeons in the entire United States doing laparoscopic prostatectomies. RP 876-77.

This recommendation was important, where robotic surgery is an extension of traditional laparoscopic surgery. RP 1915-16. A surgeon needs to have laparoscopic training in order to do robotic procedures. *Id.* A surgeon who is very, very experienced and confident in open procedures is not qualified to sit down and start doing a robotic procedure. RP 1911.

F. After obtaining FDA clearance, ISI dramatically reduced the training it promised to provide.

Sometime after obtaining FDA clearance, but before selling the robot to Harrison, ISI made the following changes to the training program it promised to the FDA.

1. Phase 1 – the 70-question test became a 10-question test.

By the time ISI was trying to sell Harrison a robot in 2008, it had abandoned the 70-question test for a 10-question test. CP 4631. The entire Phase 1 distance-learning module took only one hour to

complete. RP 2939-40. Although ISI told the FDA that "[c]ontinuation to Phase 2 is dependent upon successful completion of Phase 1 . . .," ISI is not aware of anyone having ever failed the Phase 1 test. *Id.*; Ex 24 p. 31. It is impossible to fail. CP 4608-10.

2. Phase 2 – the three-day lab training program became a one-day program with no standardized evaluation.

By 2008 ISI had shortened off-site training from three days to only one day, if, as here, only one member of the surgical team was training on the console. RP 2625-26; CP 4613, 4634-35. Off-site training is two days only if both surgeons on the team will train on the console and at tableside. RP 2625-26; CP 4634-35. At times, one ISI trainer would train two different surgical teams at the same time, going back and forth between two different surgical bays. RP 2644.

By 2008, ISI had no "objective standard" to evaluate the duration of surgical procedures, despite its promise to use a "standardized Training Assessment tool." *Compare* Ex 24, p. 30, *with* RP 2627-28. ISI's "Vice [P]resident of training and development," Gene Nagel, admitted that ISI did not determine "mastery," contrary to its promises to the FDA, but only evaluated whether surgical tasks were "completed." *Compare* CP 4572, 4649-

50 with Ex. 10, p. 31. The ISI trainer who conducted Bildsten's offsite had never had an urologist fail. CP 5542.

3. Phase 3 – the dry run no longer included any evaluation or assessment.

Nagel was not sure whether ISI had ever developed the promised "metrics [to] certify mastery." *Compare* CP 4639 *with* Ex 24 p. 32 & Ex 10 p. 31. In fact, ISI had dropped even a 1-to-5 scale, acknowledging that it used no "standard performance assessment" in Phase 3 (or in any other Phase). CP 4652-54. In short, it is unclear what, if anything, ISI did to evaluate the surgical team in the Phase 3 dry-run. *Id*.¹

4. Phase 4 – ISI no longer had any real involvement.

Although Phase 4 was left in large part to surgeons and hospitals, ISI promised to "devise a standardized series of exercises" focusing on "the execution of surgical tasks." Ex 24, p. 32. By 2008, ISI had nothing to do with Phase 4 other than possibly referring a surgeon to an advanced training program. CP 4619-20.

¹ ISI also stopped using surgeon-feedback forms in Phase 3. CP 4654-55.

5. Testing – ISI removed all standardized testing and evaluation.

By the time ISI sold a robot to Harrison, there was no standard performance assessment at any phase. CP 4621-22. Removing these assessments "made it dangerous" for patients. RP 1934-35. "[T]he foreseeable consequence of changing the program in this way" is that "[y]ou have surgeons who have not been adequately assessed if they could do the job." RP 1935. Regardless of any argument about surgical abilities, this is not sufficient training. *Id*.

6. ISI never told Bildsten or Harrison that it recommended laparoscopic requirements to the FDA.

ISI's Director of Customer Training, Sean O'Connor, did not recall being aware that ISI told the FDA that surgeons should have laparoscopic requirements. CP 658, 681. When asked whether he had ever told any surgeon or hospital about this recommendation, O'Connor admitted that ISI would "usually defer to whatever the surgeons' experience were." *Id.*

Ryan Rhodes, ISI's Vice President of Clinical Marketing, was also unaware of this recommendation, and could not recall it being in any marketing materials. RP 523, 526-27, 544-45, 552. He was unaware of ISI sharing this recommendation with hospitals. RP 543.

Only Damon Daniels, the ISI Clinical Sales Representative who did the Phase 3 dry-run training at Harrison, even wavered on this point. RP 1647-48, 1659. Although Daniels claimed that ISI might have trained him to tell surgeons that ISI recommends laparoscopic requirements, he admitted that he could not recall ever passing on the recommendation. RP 1647-48, 1651-52.

But most telling is a "target" list identifying surgeons ISI believed would have a "high interest" in the robot. RP 537; Ex 31, p. 7. The first category of target surgeons includes urologists with "basic or limited laparoscopic skills who currently perform open radical prostatectomies." *Id.* ISI directed sales reps to spend about 80% of their time on this target group. RP 541; Ex 294, p. 3.

ISI also directed its sales reps to target surgeons with only "basic laparoscopic skills." Exs 31, 294. The obvious implication of this list was that surgeons who had mastered laparoscopy might have limited interest in the robot. RP 541-42.

G. When ISI began marketing to hospitals, including Harrison, ISI sold itself as a partner in developing a successful robotics program.

ISI employees who worked directly with Harrison (and other customers) agreed that part of their job was to present themselves as partners in building a successful robotics program. RP 550, 657,

679-80, 1669, 1694; CP 4587-88; Ex 281, p. 5. Marketing materials extolled the virtues of partnering with ISI. CP 4584, 4587; Ex 48. Indeed, Daniels encouraged hospitals and surgeons to see him as a "leader" and an "expert." RP 1688.

H. Although the robot was only FDA cleared, ISI marketed the robot as FDA approved.

ISI agrees that "a surgical device should be marketed in accordance with FDA regulations," under which it is "misleading" and "misbranding" to market a FDA-cleared medical device as FDA-approved. 21 C.F.R. § 807.97; RP 492, 551.

ISI's Rhodes contributed to a chapter titled "Robotic Urology" that identified the da Vinci robot as FDA-approved. RP 612-13; Ex 69, p. 13. ISI expected surgeons and hospital directors to read this chapter for information on the robot. RP 613-14.

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