COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOSETTE TAYLOR as Personal Representative of the Estate of FRED E. TAYLOR, deceased; and on behalf of the Estate of FRED E. TAYLOR; and JOSETTE TAYLOR, individually,

Appellants,

No. 45052-6-II

MOTION FOR LEAVE TO SUBMIT OVER-LENGTH BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

VS.

INTUITIVE SURGICAL, INC., a foreign corporation doing business in Washington,

Respondent.

COMES NOW respondent Intuitive Surgical, Inc. and requests that this Court grant it leave to file a 59-page brief pursuant to RAP 10.4(b). This motion is based on the annexed declaration of Philip A. Talmadge.

DATED this 4 day of May, 2014.

Respectfully Submitted,

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

Courts do not read language into a statute even if they believe the Legislature *might* have intended it. *Kilian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 20, 50 P.3d 638 (2002).

under that statute extends to situations where the warnings or instructions were not provided or were inadequate, and the manufacturer could have provided warnings or instructions. Simply put, a duty to warn is not a duty to train, and nothing in the statutory language or in its history would permit distortion of a duty to warn into a duty to train.

The terms "warnings" or "instructions" are not expressly defined in .030 or in the WPLA generally. RCW 7.72.010. But the common understanding of such terms does not extend to training. Bryan A. Garner, Black's Law Dictionary (8th ed.) at 1615, for example, describes a warning as "[t]he pointing out of a danger, esp. to one who would not otherwise be aware of it." This is decidedly not a duty to train. By its plain terms, RCW 7.72.030(1)(b) does not extend to a duty to train product users.

Even if this Court were to conclude that RCW 7.72.030(1)(b) is ambiguous, a resort to legislative history of the WPLA would reveal that the Legislature never intended to create a duty to train in RCW 7.72.010(3)(b). The 1981 Senate Journal¹² indicates that the Legislature

The Senate incorporated the section-by-section analysis of the WPLA by the Senate Select Committee on Tort Reform and Product Liability into its Journal; this analysis has been cited as authoritative by Washington courts. See, e.g., Tegman v. Accident & Med. Investigations, Inc., 150 Wn.2d 102, 110, 75 P.3d 497 (2003); Kottler v. State, 136 Wn.2d 437, 452, 963 P.2d 834 (1998); Scott v. Cascade Structures, 100 Wn.2d 537, 547, 673 P.2d 179, 184 (1983).

did not intend to create a duty to train.

Additionally, the WPLA was strongly influenced by the United States Commerce Department's Model Uniform Product Liability Act. 44 Fed. Register 62714 (1979). In discussing warnings and instructions, the MUPLA contemplates written instructions because of its emphasis on "clarity and conspicuousness" of the warnings and instructions. *Id.* at 62724-25. Training cannot be "conspicuous;" to imply a duty to train within the duty to warn would be illogical. *Nowhere* in the Model Act, its provisions or analysis, is there any indication that a duty to train product users was even contemplated.

Finally, the contemporaneous law review article on the WPLA written by the chair of the Senate Select Committee, ¹³ Philip A. Talmadge, Washington's Product Liability Act, 5 U. Puget Sd. L. Rev. 1 (1981), nowhere suggests that the Legislature intended to create a duty to train in RCW 7.72.030(1)(b). Id. at 9-10.¹⁴

This article has been cited as an authoritative source of WPLA legislative history by Washington courts. See, e.g., Stanton v. Bayliner Marine Corp., 123 Wn. 2d 64, 84, 866 P.2d 15, 26 (1993); Washington Water Power Co. v. Graybar Elec. Co., 112 Wn.2d 847, 858, 774 P.2d 1199 amended sub nom. Washington Power Co. v. Graybar Elec. Co., 779 P.2d 697 (1989); Staton Hills Winery Co., Ltd. v. Collons, 96 Wn. App. 590, 595, 980 P.2d 784, 787 (1999).

On the notion that a duty to train is required under RCW 7.72.030(1)(b), there is a direct analogy in the refusal of courts in Washington and elsewhere to adopt a cause of action for "educational malpractice" in the educational setting. See Camer v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1, 52 Wn. App. 531, 762 P.2d 356 (1988), review denied, 112 Wn.2d

An interpretation of RCW 7.72.030(1)(b) that excludes a duty to train is also consistent with product liability law in other jurisdictions. See, e.g., Glorvigen v. Cirrus Design Corp., 816 N.W.2d 572 (Minn. 2012). See also, Rounds v. Genzyme Corp., 440 F. Appx. 753, 754 (11th Cir. 2011), cert. denied, 132 S. Ct. 1913 (2012) (court declined to adopt a duty to train that was independent from the duty to warn with respect to a biologic product); Mason v. Texaco Inc., 862 F.2d 242, 248 (10th Cir. 1988) (same); York v. Union Carbide Corp., 586 N.E.2d 861, 871 (Ind. App. 1992) (court rejected rejected the contention that a manufacturer owed a duty to train end users of its product finding "no authority for the proposition that a manufacturer has a legal duty to train the employees of

^{1006,} cert. denied, 493 U.S. 873 (1989) (no private right of action for alleged failure to instruct on state constitution or national and state government and history). See also, Waugh v. Morgan Stanley & Co., 966 N.E.2d 540, 549 (Ill. App. 2012), appeal denied, 979 N.E.2d 890 (Ill. 2012) (claim of failure to train pilot akin to educational malpractice and rejected); Glorvigen v. Cirrus Design Corp., 796 N.W.2d 541, 553 (Minn. App. 2011), aff'd, 816 N.W.2d 572 (Minn. 2012) (suit against airplane manufacturer for failure to train, appellate court treated action as akin to education malpractice action and rejected it).

There, the Minnesota Supreme Court recognized that while a product manufacturer has a duty to provide proper warnings and instructions regarding a product's use that duty does not extend to training persons how to use its products, even if the manufacturer undertook to provide training as part of the purchase price of the product at issue. The Minnesota court held that while the manufacturer had a duty to warn, which included a "duty to give adequate instructions," that duty "has never before required a supplier or manufacturer to provide training, only accurate and thorough instructions on the safe use of the product." *Id.* at 582 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Thus, while there is a duty to warn or instruct, "there is no duty for suppliers or manufacturers to *train* users in the safe use of their product." *Id.* at 583 (emphasis in original).

its buyers."); Woodhouse v. Sanofi-Aventis U.S. LLC, 2011 WL 3666595 at *3 (W.D. Tex. 2011) (court rejected claims that the manufacturer failed to warn and had "failed to train, warn, or educate" prescribing doctors, and specifically, the plaintiff on the adverse side effects of Ambien).

Instructions 10 and 11 under RCW 7.72.030(1)(b) misstate the plain language of the duty to warn in the WPLA. ¹⁶ Just as our Supreme Court asserted in *Killian, supra* at 20, and *Washington State Coalition for the Homeless v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 133 Wn.2d 894, 904, 949 P.2d 1291 (1997), a court is not free to "add language to a clear statue even if [it believes] the Legislature intended something else but failed to express it adequately." If the Legislature had meant to require manufacturers to train product users as an element of a duty to warn under RCW 7.72.030(1)(b) it could have said so in the statute. It did not. Instruction 10 and 11 incorrectly imposed on Intuitive a "duty to train" that does not exist in the law. ¹⁷

(b) <u>Intuitive Had No Duty to Warn Harrison Under the WPLA</u>

Dr. Bildsten also went beyond Intuitive's training program to receive additional training. RP 1046.

Because Intuitive believes the jury's verdict was correct, it has not cross-appealed to challenge the incorrect "duty to train" language in the jury instructions. However, this analysis is important as to Taylor's claim that the jury should have been instructed on a duty to warn Harrison.

Taylor argues that the trial court erred in refusing to include Harrison as a second "learned intermediary" to Dr. Bildsten in Instruction 6, 7, 10, 11, and 17. Br. of Appellants at 46-48. The trial court did not err.

As a threshold matter, Taylor waived, and was not prejudiced by, the claimed instructional error because the proposed instructions with their "duty to train" language are a patently erroneous statement of Washington law on the WPLA duty to warn. A party claiming instructional error with respect to an instruction not given must offer a proposed instruction that is a correct statement of the law; otherwise, the party asserting such instructional error cannot be prejudiced by the failure to give it. A trial court is under no obligation to give an incorrect statement of the law as this Court noted in *State v. Ehrhardt*, 167 Wn. App. 934, 939, 276 P.3d 332 (2012).

Here, for the reasons enumerated *supra*, Taylor failed to offer a correct statement of the law in its proposed Instructions 12 and 28 in which it contended that Intuitive had a duty under the WPLA to train anyone at Harrison utilizing a da Vinci System. The WPLA's duty to warn is *not* a duty to train.

In addition to Taylor's waiver problem, there is no additional duty to warn a *second* learned intermediary in the WPLA. Washington's

learned intermediary principle was first recognized by our Supreme Court in *Terhune v. A.H. Robins Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 9, 13, 577 P.2d 975 (1978) where our Supreme Court adopted comment k to the *Restatement (Second)* of *Torts* § 402A, noting:

... it has become a well-established rule that in such cases, the duty of the manufacturer to warn of dangers involved in use of a product is satisfied if he gives adequate warning to the physician who prescribes it.

Id. at 13-14 (citing cases). 18

Harrison is not the learned intermediary here because Dr. Bildsten prescribed and utilized the da Vinci System in Fred Taylor's surgery. He had the unambiguous obligation under RCW 7.70 to exercise independent professional judgment in performing that surgery. Taylor's argument that Harrison is a second learned intermediary within the meaning of *Terhune* and subsequent case law is wrong. Comment k to the *Restatement* and

The reasons for this rule should be obvious. Where a product is available only on prescription or through the services of a physician, the physician acts as a "learned intermediary" between the manufacturer or seller and the patient. ... The physician decides what facts should be told to the patient. Thus, if the product is properly labeled and carries the necessary instructions and warnings to fully apprise the physician of the proper procedures for use and the dangers involved, the manufacturer may reasonably assume that the physician will exercise the informed judgment thereby gained in conjunction with his own independent learning, in the best interest of the patient.

Id. at 15.

¹⁸ The Court further stated:

case law in Washington since *Terhune* confine the scope of the learned intermediary doctrine to the persons *actually prescribing* the use of the product in question.

In this case, there is *no evidence* that Harrison prescribed the da Vinci System for Fred Taylor's surgery. Moreover, there is *no evidence* that Harrison personnel met with Fred Taylor regarding the da Vinci System, or attempted to obtain informed consent separate from that obtained by Dr. Bildsten. That burden appropriately fell on Dr. Bildsten as the *prescribing professional*. Taylor can cite to no authority to support the proposition that even when a treating physician obtains informed consent, a hospital has an obligation to secure a second, independent informed consent.

It is precisely due to a physician's professional responsibility that our Supreme Court has rejected the contention that the duty to warn extends to pharmacists. In *McKee v. American Home Products Corp.*, 113 Wn.2d 701, 782 P.3d 1045 (1989), the Court emphasized that the learned intermediary doctrine applies in connection with pharmaceuticals to professionals exercising medical judgment as to their use for a patient. *Id.* at 709-10. In rejecting the application of the learned intermediary doctrine to a pharmacist, the Court stated:

Neither manufacturer nor pharmacist has the medical education or knowledge of the medical history of the patient which would justify a judicial imposition of a duty to intrude into the physician-patient relationship. In deciding whether to use a prescription drug, the patient relies primarily on the expertise and judgment of the physician. Proper weighing of the risks and benefits of a proposed drug treatment and determining what facts to tell the patient about the drug requires an individualized medical judgment based on knowledge of the patient and his or her medical condition. ... We believe that duty, and any liability arising thereform, is best left with the physician.

Id. at 711-12. See also, Silves v. King, 93 Wn. App. 873, 970 P.2d 790 (1999) (pharmacist had no duty to warn of drug interactions or consult with doctor regarding them; hospital's discharge nurse had no duty to warn of such interactions as that was duty of prescribing physician). This analysis applies with equal vigor to the application of the learned intermediary principle to a hospital where a physician, not the hospital, prescribes the use of the da Vinci System in the case of a particular patient. This is a matter of medical judgment not exercised by the hospital.

Here, Dr. Bildsten, not Harrison, bore the responsibility under RCW 7.70 to exercise *professional judgment*, and to prescribe and then properly utilize the da Vinci System in Fred Taylor's case. To the extent that Taylor's proposed Instructions 12 and 28 seek to expand the learned intermediary principle beyond the professional actually prescribing the

product, they are an incorrect statement of law and were properly rejected by the trial court.

Taylor asks this Court to ignore the language of *Terhune* and comment k to the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 402A and to conclude that Harrison is an additional learned intermediary to Dr. Bildsten because Harrison purchased the da Vinci System and "credentialed" doctors. Br. of Appellants at 46. Lacking any Washington authority, Taylor cites to foreign authority. *Id.* at 46-47. However, the cases cited by Taylor for the proposition that a hospital can be a learned intermediary, *id.*, are readily distinguishable.

For example, *Ellis v. C.R. Bard, Inc.*, 311 F.3d 1272, 1282 (11th Cir. 2002), simply suggests that a hospital *might* be a learned intermediary if its staff exercised discretion as to the application of a medical device. That case involved a patient activated morphine pump, a somewhat unique device that is inserted by the learned intermediary but operated by the patient. *Ellis*, 311 F.3d at 1276. However, the court clarified that when only a learned intermediary can prescribe and use the device, and that learned intermediary receives warnings, there is no *second* duty to warn other parties: "[W]hen a device can be prescribed and inserted *only* by a physician, that treating physician has *sole* responsibility for advising the patient of dangers associated with the use of the device." *Id.*, 311 F.3d at

1280 (emphasis added).

The other cases Taylor cites are also distinguishable because they turn on whether hospital staff actually prescribed the product in question to the patient. In Wright v. Abbott Laboratories, Inc., 259 F.3d 1226 (10th Cir. 2001), the court applied the learned intermediary doctrine to a hospital where its staff administered concentrated sodium chloride to patients. The court found the manufacturer's warnings to be adequate. In Brown v. Drake-Willock International, Ltd., 530 N.W.2d 510 (Mich. App. 1995), the court rejected application of the learned intermediary doctrine to a dialysis technician. The court emphasized that the devices' use was by prescription only and the doctors would instruct their employees on the use of formaldehyde to clean them. Again, the manufacturer was exonerated from liability for a failure to warn. Finally, in McEwen v. Ortho Pharmaceutical Corp., 528 P.2d 522 (Or. App. 1974), the manufacturer was again found not to be liable for a failure to warn regarding use of oral contraceptives. The Oregon court spoke of members of the medical profession but did not address hospitals at all. McEwen. 528 P.2d at 529.

None of these cases depart from the basic principle announced in *Terhune* and reinforced in *McKee* that the learned intermediary principle applies to prescribing physicians like Dr. Bildsten who exercise

professional medical judgment about a drug or medical device, and not to hospitals like Harrison that simply purchase the product for prescription and use by physicians.

In sum, the trial court here did not err in rejecting Taylor's proposed Instructions 12 and 28 that attempted to provide that Intuitive had a duty under the WPLA to train Harrison as a learned intermediary when Washington does not recognize either a duty to train in the WPLA or that Harrison is a learned intermediary.

(c) Even Assuming the Trial Court Erred in Not Imposing on Intuitive a Duty to Warn and Train Harrison as a Second Learned Intermediary, the Error Was Harmless

To demonstrate reversible error, Taylor must not only prove that the trial court erred as a matter of law in refusing to extend Intuitive's duty to warn Harrison as well as Dr. Bildsten, but also demonstrate that the error was prejudicial to his case. *See Joyce*, 155 Wn.2d at 323.¹⁹

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